





INDETERMINATE SENTENCE PAROLE RELEASE REVIEW
(Penal Code Section 3041.2)

DERRICK TAYLOR, E-66425
SECOND-DEGREE MURDER

AFFIRM:

MODIFY:

REVERSE: X

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND REASONS:

Crime

According to the probation report, on November 10, 1989, Derrick Taylor and Charles
Batiste met at a dairy located near Beatrix Sullivan’s residence. They intended to rob
her. The two men gained entry o the property through an alley at the rear of the
residence. They entered a detached guestroom located in the back of the house, looking
for “something to take.” Mr. Batiste covered the window in the guestroom with an
afghan-type blanket and fell asleep. When he awoke in the early morning hours, Mx.
Taylor was no longer present. Mr. Taylor reported that Ms. Sullivan saw him, so he
leaped over the fence, but returned a short time later. After he retumed, he enlered Ms.
Sullivan’s main residence, which he then ransacked. As he ransacked the home, Ms.
Sullivan entered the guesthouse. Mr. Batiste struck her over the head with an 18-inch

brown wooden object.

Mrs. Sullivan fell to the floor and Mr. Batiste struck her head an additional two to three times.
Mr. Batiste took the wooden object with him and entered Ms. Sullivan’s main residence to join
Mr. Taylor. One of the crime partners removed $80 doliars in cash from Ms. Sullivan’s purse in
her living room, $60 dollars of which was later spent on cocaine. Mr. Batiste then drove away in
Ms. Sullivan’s car. Ultimately, he abandoned the vehicle. Mr. Taylor left the residence some
time prior to Ms. Sullivan’s murder, and prior to Mr. Batiste’s departure.

Ms. Sullivan’s body was found by law enforcement authorities. The cause of death was blunt
force trauma to the head.

An anonymous caller notified the police of the murder and implicated Mr. Taylor. Thereafter, a
warrant was issued, and Mr. Taylor turned himself in to police. He pled guilty to second-degree
murder and the court sentenced him to 15 years to life in prison.



GOVERNING LAVW:

The question I must answer is whether Mr. Taylor 1s currently a danger to the public. To answer
this, the circumstances of his crime are evidence of his current dangerousness only if the record
also establishes thal something in his pre- or post-incarceration history, or his current demeanor
and mental state, indicate that the implications regarding his dangerousness which stem from his
commission of the life offense remain probative of his posing a present threat to public safety
within the statutorily-prescribed analysis.’

DECISION:

The Board of Parole Hearings (Board) found Mr. Taylor suitable for parole based upon his
participation in seif-help and therapy programs, his expressions of remorse, his acceptance of
responsibility for his actions, and his positive institutional behavior. The Board also noted that
he enhanced his ability to function within the law upon release and established realistic parole
plans. The Board also found that his psychological evaluation in 2008 was favorable.

Mr. Taylor has made laudable gains while incarcerated. He entered prison a high school
graduate. During his incarceration, he earned an Associate of Science degree from Palo Verde
College in Business Management, graduating with honors. Mr. Taylor completed vocational
training in mechanical drawing, vocational computer refurbishing, as well as refrigeration and
air-conditioning. He was also trained in plant operations/maintenance painter. Mr. Taylor held
skilled institutional positions as a janitor and fimish sander. He also worked within the Prison
Industry Authority’s eyewear department. Mr. Taylor engaged in the following self-help
programs: Alcoholics Anonymous, Narcotics Anonymous, Anger Management, Life Without a
Crutch, Relapse Prevention Program, Getting it Right series, Coming Back From a Relapse, and
Timeless Group. Mr. Taylor also received training on CAL / OSHA Hazardous Communication
standard, “Right to Know.” Although I comimend Mr. Taylor for upgrading himself in prison, i
believe these positive efforts are outweighed by several negative factors demonstrating that he
remains unsuitable for parole.

Several negative factors indicate that Mr. Taylor poses a current risk to public safety. After
carefully reviewing the record that was before the Board, I find that Mr. Taylor is unsuitable for
parole. The gravity of the crime is such that considerations of public safety require Mr, Taylor to
be incarcerated for a longer period of time. 1 agree with the 2010 Board that this crime was
particularly grave because the victim was elderly and therefore, particularly vulnerable. The
Board said, “| W]e have a victim, Mrs. Sullivan, in her own home who was bludgeoned to death
and killed in the process of a burglary, a burglary that was comimitted by [ Taylor] and [his] crime
partner.” The Board added, “This is a crimie . . . that’s dispassionate also in the fact that the way
it occwrred. This victim was abused during this commitment offense, and the fact that she was
killed by multiple strikes about her person with a clubbing device.”

However, there are additional factors, which {further indicate that Mr. Taylor is unsuitable for
parole at this time. Mr. Taylor claims, as he recently told his 2008 psychological evaluator, that
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he was unaware of Mr. Batiste’s intent to murder Ms. Sullivan. According to the evaluation,
“The inmate related that when he and his crime partner entered the house to the rear of the
property, there was no intention to rob ot harm the victim . . . .” Mr, Taylor claims that he and
Mr. Batiste originally entered the residence only to “crash” in the rear of the house following an
all-night party they attended. According to Mr. Taylor, it was not until Mr. Batiste “waived for
[Mr. Taylor] to enter the house,” and said, “Come on let’s burglarize the house™ that Mr. Taylor
agreed to participate in the crime. Mr. Taylor indicated that “he did not find out that his crime
partner had killed the victim until a week Jater.” In fact, Mr. Taylor has consistently denied any
awareness that his crime partner had the intent to murder Ms. Sullivan. Mr. Taylor is not
required to admit guilt in order to be found suitable for parole (Cal. Pen. Code § 5011).
However, his past and present attitude toward the crime are factors that affect suitability for
release. (Cal.Code Regs., tit. 15 § 2402(b).) In refusing to accept adequate responsibility, Mr.
Taylor demonstrates that he does not entirely understand what he did wrong and what he needs
to do differently in the future.

Additionally, according to the probation report, aithough Mr. Taylor does not have a juvenile
criminal record, he has an extensive criminal history as an adult. His criminal record dates back
to 1984 and includes convictions for burglary, conspiracy to commit a crine, possessing a
controlled substance, being under the influence PCP, maliciously defacing private property with
paint, and attempted grand theft person. According to the 2008 psychological evaluation, Mr.
Taylor served a prior prison term for possessing drugs and being under the influence of a
controlled substance. He also violated the terms and conditions of his probation and parole. Mr.
Taylor admitted to his 2008 psychological evaluator that he started drinking alcohol and using
marijuana by age 14, and that he started using cocaine and methamphetamine by age 20.
According to the 2008 psychological evaluation, Mr. Taylor admitted that he and Mr. Batiste
used cocaine and alcohol during an all-nigbt party the Mrs. Sullivan’s murder.

Mr. Taylor’s criininal record is particularly troubling because, as recently as 2008, his
psychological evaluator diagnosed him with Adult Antisocial Behavior disorder. The evaluator
concluded, “[H]e does have a history of antisocial personality traits associated with such a
diagnostic formulation.” The 2010 Board outlined its concerns about Mr, Taylor’s history of
criminality. The Board concluded, “{Mr. Taylor] wlas] arrested for burglary and convicted, 36
months probation, 180 days in jail, arrested for receiving stolen property, arrested for drug
violations, under the influence and possession of drugs, possession of a controlied substance.
Because of [his] inability to follow the rules and regulations of society, [he] violated parole and
subsequently was sent to prison for that. . . . [Mr. Taylor] w[as] arrested for attempted robbery,
which was dismissed. But we looked at the past criminality, specifically the direction of the
areas that tend to deal with drugs, drug violations and burglary. . . . [Mr. Taylor] do[es] have an
unstable social history, and in fact, [he] failed previous grants for probation and parole. And [he]
also failed previous jail commitments and a prior prison term that did not correct [his] behavior.
Mr. Taylor] w(as] involved in drug and alcohol use and addiction prior to CDCR. . . .7

Indeed, Mr. Taylor has an established history of criminality that well predates the life offense.
This pattern of violating the law and society’s failed attempts 1o vehabilitale him provide the
basis for his most recent evaluator’s diagnosis of Adult Antisocial Behavior disorder. This
evaluator’s current diagnosis of Mr. Taylor is concerning because the cvaluator explained that,
“IdJue to the nature of [antisocial] personality traits, this diagnosis [of Antisocial Personality



Behavior disorder] could remain with the inmate until he is able to demonstrate continued
prosocial and unimpaired functioning for a protracted period of time without being under a
supervised living circumstance.”

The 2010 Board also evaluated Mr. Taylor’s institutional behavior. During his incarceration,

Mr. Taylor was disciplined four times for rules violations involving two instances of possessing
inmate-manufactured alcohol and two acts of using force and violence during a prison fight. He
was also counseled for other misconduct five times, most recently in 1999 for disobeying orders.

That Mr. Taylor continues to pose a risk of current dangerousness finds support in his 2008
psychological evaluator’s opinion that he is in the “medium” category for general recidivism.
(Original emphasis.) The evaluator explained that “[h]istorical factors that increase the inmate’s
risk for future violence includes previous violence, employment problems, substance abuse and
prior supervision failures in the community.”

Although Mr. Taylor has demonstrated some progress in prison, I cannot say that he no longer
poses a threat to society, Additionally, the Los Angeles County District Attorney’s Office
opposes Mr. Taylor’s parole. The Deputy District Attorney described the murder as
“inconceivable, inconceivable, that an 85-year-old lady was bludgeoned to death, sat there or Jay
there quictly being bludgeoned and not screaming.”

CONCLUSION:

I have reviewed the record carefully and have considered each of the factors for assessing
suitability or unsuitability for parole under California Code of Regulations, Title 15, section
2402. In this decision, I have discussed the specilic factors that I consider particularly relevant
in determining whether Mr. Taylor is suitable for parole at this time. 1 find that the negative
factors discussed above demonstrate why Mr. Tavlor remains a current risk to public safety.
Therefore, | reverse the decision to parole Mr. Taylor,

EXN Y Prown [

i

EDMUND G. BROWN JR.
Governor, State of California

Decision Date;  1/6/11




INDETERMINATE SENTENCE PAROLE RELEASE REVIEW
(Penal Code Section 3041.2)

ANDREW OTTON, C-80422
FIRST-DEGREE MURDER

AFFIRM:

MODIFY:

REVERSE: X

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND REASONS:

Crime

According to the probation report, Andrew Otton arranged to meet Mark Dreisbach on December
20, 1982 to purchase a large quantity of marijuana from Mr. Dreisbach. Before the meeting, Mr.
Otton filled multiple envelopes with scraps of paper so that the envelopes would appear to
contain cash. During the meeting, Mr. Otton handed the envelopes to Mr. Dreisbach. As Mr.
Dreisbach began to open one of the envelopes, Mr. Otton shot him in the head three times with a
.25 caliber pistol. Mr. Otton then took about five pounds of marijuana from Mr. Dreisbach.

Mr. Otton was arrested on February 17, 1983. He pled guilty to first- degTee murder and was
sentenced to 25 years to life in prison.

GOVERNING LAW:

The question I must answer is whether Mr. Otton will pose an unreasonable risk of danger to
society if released from prison. In considering whether he poses an unreasonable risk of danger,
the circumstances of his crime are evidence of his current dangerousness only if the record also
establishes that something in his pre-or post-incarceration history, or his current demeanor and
mental state, mdicate that the implications regarding his dangerousness which stem from his
commuission of the life offense remain probatlve of his posing a present threat to public safety
within the statutorily-prescribed analysis.!

DECISION:

The Board of Parole Hearings found Mr. Otton suitable for parole based upon his participation in
self-help and therapy programs, expressions of remorse, educational and vocational training,
positive institutional behavior, realistic parole plans, and his reduced risk of recidivism due to his

age.

"V in re Lawrence (2008) 44 Cal. 4% 1181,
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Mr. Otton has made laudable gains while incarcerated. He earned a high school diploma in 1986
and an Associate of Arts degree in 1991. He also completed a Legal Research Training Course
and health education courses. He earmed certificates in machine shop and became a journeyman
machinist. He held skilled institutional assignments, including yard porter, machinist, and
canteen clerk. He also worked for the Department of Forestry. Notably, Mr. Otten has
participated in Narcotics Anonymous since 1990. He enhanced his ability to function within the
law upon release through participation in self-help and therapy programs, including Healthy
Relationships Class, Self-Confrontation Class, Anger Management, Women’s Perspective,
Correctional Learning Network, bible study courses, Family Relationship Education Enrichment,
The Purpose Driven Life Program, Celebrate Recovery Program, Ethics Workshop, Creative
Mind Program, Arts-in-Corrections, and Coping with Anger. Although I commend Mr. Otton
for upgrading himself in prison, I believe these positive efforts are outweighed by negative
factors demonstrating that he remains unsuitable for parole.

The gravity of the crime is such that considerations of public safety require Mr. Otton to be
incarcerated for a longer period of time. Mr. Otton committed the premeditated murder in a
dispassionate and calculated manner. In discussing the murder with the Board in 2010, Mr.
Otton explained that before the murder he had been selling marijuana that he purchased from Mr.
Dreisbach. Mr. Otton felt he “wasn’t making much profit” selling the marijuana so he and his
crime partner, Mr. Regis, set-up a drug deal with Mr. Dreisbach, giving Mr. Otton the
opportunity to rob Mr. Dreisbach and kiil him. It is clear from Mr. Otton’s statement to the
Board that his motive for shooting Mr. Dreisbach was inexplicable or trivial in relation to the
magnitude of the offense he committed. In fact, Mr. Otton told the Board in 2010 there was “no

reason” to kill him.

Additionally, the record indicates that Mr. Otton does not have an adequate understanding of the
causative factors of the murder. In 2010, the Board asked Mr. Otton, “[D]o you have any insight
into this life crime? Do you have any understanding of how this life crime happened?” Mr.

Otton responded:

At the time, when I was the monster, the animal that I was, [ was
consumed with so many issues, The main issue was my being so
young and consumed by drugs and alcohol, the lifestyle, like that.
Also, other factors like being an anti-social person, having a
rebellious attitude and behavior, my lack of respect for life.

The Board attempted to address the factors that caused Mr. Otton to abuse illegal drugs and
involve himself in that “lifestyle.” Mr. Otton indicated that he turned to a life of drugs and crime
because he did not receive acceptance from his father. He grew up in an intact family and said
that until the age of 15 he was “really good,” “behaved properly” and “had no problems.”
However, he explained that he never felt like he could satisfy his father and did not receive
positive reinforcement from his father. Mr, Otton told the Board:
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[Wlhen I didn’t get the satisfaction from my father, I didn’t, it didn’t
appease [sic] me, so | turned against my family and chose this lifestyle.
When I chose this lifestyle, it escalated and got worse and worse, and T
ended up using more drugs. And I was looking for other peopie to hang
out with and also acceptance from other people.

The 2010 Board expressed doubt *“if [Mr. Otton] really ha[s] that much insight into [his] crime.”
The Board stated that it was “a little bit troubled when [Mr. Otton] kept on going back to [his]
dad” in discussing the causes of his drug use, and concluded that Mr. Otton did not possess “a
whole lot of understanding into this thing.” In Mr. Otton’s 2009 psychological evaluation, he
told the psychologist that the drug lifestyle led to his commission of the murder. In response, the
psychologist concluded that Mr. Otton “appears to lack an understanding of what turned him
away from the pro-social life modeled by his parents and two brothers.”

Mr. Otton does not evidence meaningful insight into the causative factors that led to his
substance abuse and criminal behavior. His explanations that drug use and his father’s lack of
positive reinforcement led to his actions are unpersuasive. According to the records and
evaluations contained in the file, Mr. Otton does not appear to have ever explored why, given his
supportive home life, he turned to drugs and murdered Mr. Dreisbach. Until he understands
what drove him to commit this heinous crime, in spite of the available alternatives, he remains at

risk for returning to that lifestyle.

I also believe the Board panel gave inadequate consideration to Mr. Otton’s 2010 psychological
evaluation. The psychologist determined that Mr. Otton scored in the “MODERATE” range for
violent and general recidivism. (Original emphasis.) Overall, Mr. Otton poses a “MODERATE
TO LOW?” risk of violence in the community. (Original emphasis.) The psychologist identified
“lack of insight” as one of the clinical factors that contributes to Mr. Otton’s elevated risk rating
for violent recidivism. Factors that contributed to Otton’s elevated risk of general recidivism
included his criminal history, record of institutional misconduct, the presence of criminal
acquaintances/friends, and his prior substance abuse. The findings in this recent psychological
evaluation support my determination that Mr. Otton poses a current unreasonable risk of danger

to the community.

I also note that the San Mateo County District Attormey’s Office and the City of South San
Francisco Police Department oppose Mr. Otton’s 2010 parole.
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CONCLUSION:

[ 'have reviewed the record carefully and have considered each of the factors for assessing
suitability or unsuitability for parole under California Code of Regulations, Title 15, section
2402. 1 find that the negative factors I have discussed demonstrate why Mr. Otton remains a
current risk to public safety. Therefore, I reverse the decision to parole Mr. Otton.

Decision Date:  1/14/11 éM\ }1 &0 o ‘

EDMUND G. BROWN JR.
Governor, State of California




INDETERMINATE SENTENCE PAROLE RELEASE REVIEW
(Penal Code Section 3041.2)

LEWIS BANKSTON, D-29313
Second-degree murder

AFFIRNM:
MODIFY:

REVIERSE: X

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND REASONS:

Crime

According to the Court of Appeal opinion. on the evening of October 8. 1983, Mr. Bankstor and
his girifriend. Lirda Daly, were alone in his becroorn when Ms. Daly was shot once in the head
with My Bankston's revolver. Ms. Daly died a most instantly. After the shooting, Mr, Bankston
called the authorities and called for help rom a eouple staying in a trailer on his propeny.

I conmrast o the facts that the jury found o be e, Mr. Bankston has always maimtained that
the killing was ar accident. He wold sherifts investigators that he had placed his revolver on the
headbuard of his bed. He claimed the gun fell ¢ 1 the headboard while the couple were
maneuvering m bed and discharged. A bullet fired from the gun struck Ms. Daly in the head. e
suid he thought he had removed alt of the bullets from the eun earlier in the evening.

Mr. Benkston was arrested two days Jater. A jury convicted him of sceond-degree murder and
found that he personally used a firearm during the commission of the crime. The court sentenced
him to 13 years to life in prison for the murder, and a consecutive two-vear term for the firean
enhancement. The Court of Appeal affirmed th fudgment.

GOVERNING LAW:

Phe guestion I must apswer is whether Mr. Bancston will pose an unreasonable risk of danger to
sociely it released Trom prison. In considering whetaer he poses an unreasonzble risk of dange-.
the circumstances ol his erime are evidence of Fis current dangerousness only if the record also
cstablizhes that something in his pre-or post-incarceration history. or his current demeanor and
mental state. indicate that the implications regarding his dungerousness which stem from his
comnussion of the life offense remain probative of his posing a present threat o public salety
within the statuteily-prescribed analysis, '

Vhrre Laverence (2008) 44 Cal, 4% 1181
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DILCISION:
The Board of Parole Hearings found Mr. Banks on suitable for parole hased upon his expressions
of remorse. acceptance of responsibility for his actions, lack of a previous criminal history,
positive mstitutional behavior. appropriate parole plans. and an enhanced ability 1o function
within the law upon release. The Board also found that his psvehological evaluation in 2008 was
favorable,

[ acknowledge that during his incarceration, Mr Bankston has recerved vocational training in
mill and cabinetry, 1le also held institutional joo assipnments, including various clerk positions.
dental attendant, and textile assembler, and various positions in the Prison Industry Authority’s
furniture factory.

Regardless, several negative fuctors indicate that Mr. Bankston poses a current, unreasonable
risk to public safety. He committed an especial v heinous murder. As the 2010 Board notwec. this
crime was “particularly troubling”™ insolar as My, Bankston shot and killed the woman he
presunably loved while she was lying m his bed. Whatever motive he may have had for
murdering his girtfriend. it was either inexplicable or very trivial in relution to the magnitude o7

the offense.

Mo Bankston also reluses o accept responsibility for murdering Ms, Daly. In his 2010 Life
Prisoner Evaluaton Reportche maintained that s gun fell off the headboard of his bed und
discharged on tts own, | find his story entively implausible, just as the jury that convicted him
did. The appellate court found that substantial ¢vidence supported the jury s verdicl. As
discussed m that appellate court opinion, examiaticn of the crime scene failed to correborae
Mr. Bankston's version of the erime. In particular. o criminologist failed to find any gunshot
residue on the bed’s headboard or Ms. Daly’s clothing despite the fact that, presuwmably. such
residuce would exist 1f the shooting occurred as described by Mr. Bankston. Also, the
criminslogist concluded that, due to the design ol the revelver used in the shooting. the trigger
had 10 be pulied in order for it to fire and that merely falling on the bed would not have caused 1t
to fire. Purther, bloodstains found at the scene were inconsistent with Mr. Bankston’s story and
the evidence tended to indicate that Mr, Bankston hed attempted to clean blood oft of himself in
the bathroom after the shooting. Lastly, the appellate court noted that shortly after being
arrested, Mr. Bankston told investigators thal he was holding the gun when 1t went off. which of
course conilicts with his story since his arrest.

Mr. Benkston is not required to admit guilt o be found suitable for parele (Cal. Pea. Code §
S01H). Butl am not obligated to accept his version of the crime as fact, and | do not. Further.
Bankston’s past and present attitude toward the crime are {actors that affect suitability for
release. (Cal.Code Regs., tit. 13§ 2402(b).) By refusing to admit that he intentionally shot Ms.
Daly, My, Bankston 1s refusing to accept respensibility Tor his actions. There is no indication in
the record that he understands what he did wrorg and what he needs to do difterently i the
tfuture. His failure (0 accept responsibility tor his actions and express genuime remorse offers no
assurance that he would not commut a similar act in “he future,



Lewis Bankston, D-28315
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Similarly. Mr. Banksten fails 1o acknowledge his history of vielence and examine how this
patlern coniributed to his actions, Altheugh he does not have & previous criminal record. there is
evidence that he ected violently teward Ms. Daly and others on multiple occasions in the past.
According to the probation report, Ms. Daly’s e «-husband reperted fearing for the safety of his
two davughters due to statements the girls had made to him regarding Mr. Bankston's violent
tendencics. The probation report further notes taat “there are reports from the vietim's children.
relatives. friends. and ex-wite. that the defendart has engaged in violent conduct, involving
threats of harm to others und that he has used weapons in a threatening manner {on some of
these occasions.”

Ms. Daly’s children and ex-husband appeared a- Mr, Bankston™s 2010 Board hearing 1o opposc
parele crant for Mr. Bankston and to discuss instane zs where Mr. Bankston had acted ina
threatening and/or violent manner. One of Ms. Daly’s daughters described Mr, Bankston as a
“wolt'in sheep’s ¢lothing.” She said she witnessed one incident where Mr. Bankston locked Ms.
[aly n the bathroom and another where he threatened her father (Ms. Daly’s ex-hushand) with «
aun when her father arrived 1o pick-up the children from Ms. Dalv's house for a weekend visit
she also said that Mr. Bankston had threatened ner lite. had stalked hersand that both she and
her mother feared him. Ms. Daly’s other daughter also expressed fear ol Mr. Bankston and
discussed witnessing the incident where he pulled a gun on her father and threatened him. Ms.
Dalys ex-husband told the Board that his children had been “scared to death™ of Mr. Bankston
while he was dating Ms. Daly. He also corroboratec the story his daughters told of the inciden
where Mr. Bankston threatened him with o gun. Mr Bankston’s central 1ile contains additiona
information in the confidential portion indicating a pattern of violent behavior, Despite all of
this. Mr. Bankston told the Board in 2010 that ke had never been involved in an ncident ot
domesiie vielence. and he fails to exhibit anv recogrition of his significant violent tendencies.

IS

Consistent with his inw illingness to recognize his voolent tendencies. he has not taken suflicien
steps during his incarceration (o gain insight int) his propensity for violence or ensure that he
will avoid violence in the future. The record indicatzs that, despite the fength of his
ncarceration, he tas only taken one course specificully addressing anger munagement. He has
not participated i any sell-help or therapeutic programs addressing violence. interpersonal
relationships. or the hike. In fact. Mr. Bankston has 1ot made any serious or sustained effort in
prison to participate in self-help programs that will elow him to gain insight into and address
those issues that caused him to murder his girlfiiend. Because he has not shown that he has
obtained the necessary leols to aveid violence in the future, he remains an unreasonable threat 10
the safetv of those close to him and the community at large.
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CONCLUSION:

[ have reviewed (e record carefully and have consicered each of the lactors for assessing

suitabiiity or unsuitability for parole under California Code of Regulations. Title 13, section

2402, In this deciston. 1 have discussed the specitic factors that I consider particularly relevant

in determining whether Mr. Bankston is suitable for parole at this ume. [ 1ind that the negative
tactors discuﬁsud above demonstrate why Mr, Bankston remains a current unreasonable risk to
public satety. Therefore. I reverse the decision o parole Mr. »dnkalon 1

. /
S T
Decision Date: [/ ) // . “;(:7("\ e / 7 I:/ (’ Lf} "LU)/l /y,/‘

/ EDMUND (5. RO\’VN e "';’
Giovernor, State of Cahfomla y '




INDETERMINATE SENTENCE PAROLE RELEASE REVIEW
(Penal Code Section 3041.2)

BASIL HENNEN, J-26216
Second-degree murder

AFFIRM:

MODIFY:

REVERSE: X

STATEMENT OF FACTS

According to the appellate court decision affirming Basil Hennen’s conviction, on July 21, 1991
at approximately 11 a.m. police and paramedics arrived at the apartment that Mr. Hennen shared
with his wife Margie Hennen. Mrs. Hennen was laying on the floor unconscious with blood on
her head. Mr. Hennen said he had left the apartment earlier in the morning to run some errands
and returned to find Mrs. Hennen unconscious. Mrs. Hennen was taken to the hospital. She was
not breathing when she arrived. She had bruises on her neck, lacerations on her scalp, a skuli
fracture, and a blood clot overlying her brain. She died as a result of her injuries a few weeks
later. Mrs. Hennen was eight months pregnant when she suffered the fatal injuries. Her
daughter was delivered by emergency cesarean section. The baby died a few months later in
November froni severe brain damage caused by lack of oxygen at or near the time of her birth.

Mr, Hennen was arrested on June 23, 1992. A jury convicted him of second-degree murder for
killing Mrs. Hennen, and involuntary manslaughter for causing the death of the baby. The court
sentenced him to 15 years to life in prison for the second-degree murder and three years in prison
for involuntary manslaughter, with the sentences to be served concurrently.

GOVERNING LAW:

The question is whether Mr. Hennen will pose an unreasonable risk of danger to society if
released from prison. In considering whether he poses an unreasonable risk of danger, the
circumstances of his crime are evidence of his current dangerousness only if the record also
establishes that something in his pre-or post-incarceration history, or his current demeanor and
niental state, indicate that the implications regarding his dangerousness which stem from his
commission of the life offense remain probative of his posing a present threat to public safety
within the statutorily-prescribed analysis.'

PUin re Lawrence {2008) 44 Cal. 4™ 1181,
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DECISION:

The Board of Parole Hearings found Mr. Hennen suitable for parote based upon the fact that he
had no prior criminal record, had a stable social history, had obtained some insight into the life
crime, exhibited remorse for his actions, had a record of good conduct while incarcerated, had
participated in vocational training and seli-help programs, and had realistic parole plans.

Mr. Hennen has made some gains while incarcerated. He completed vocational training in auto
body and fender repair and has held skilled institutional assignments, including vard
maintenance crew, kitchen crew, shoe factory worker, and laundry worker. He has participated
i1 self-help and therapy programs, including a number of Personal Growth Seminars concerning
various topics, as well as a Comniunication & Interpersonal Relationship course and an Anger
Management course. I commend Mr. Hennen for taking these positive steps. But they are
outweighed by negative factors that demonstrate he remains unsuitable for parole.

Mr. Hennen’s crinie was especially atrocious, brutal, and cruel. He told the Board in 2010 that
he slammed his wife’s head against a dresser three times causing her to bleed from the head and
lose consciousness. Marks observed on Mrs. Hennen’s neck, as well as the brain injury she
suffered as a result of Tack of oxygen, indicate that Mr. Hennecn may have also choked Mrs.
Hennen during the attack, a fact which Mr, Hennen denied during his 2010 Board hearing. After
beating his wife unconscious he then, in a show of extreme callous disregard for Mrs, Hennen’s
suffering, left her in their apartment bieeding and unconscious while he ran errands and tried to
come up with an alibi. The fact that Mr. Hennen not only killed his wife but her then-unborn
baby makes his actions even more horrific.

Despite his years of incarceration, Mr, Hennen has failed to develop adequate insight into the
reasons that caused him to commit such an atrocious crime and he continues to partially blame
the victim for the crime. When asked during his 2009 psychological evaluation about his reason
for committing the murder, Mr. Hennen responded,”I felt like [ was wronged; our marriage
wasn’t pure. Emotionally it hurt me, she was unfaithful.” He said he attacked Mrs. Hennen after
she told him that he was not the father of the baby she was carrying. He stated that his violent
behavior was essentially “due to the betrayal.” The psychologist concluded:

Though the inmate reports that he accepts full responsibility for the life crime, he
appears to have accepted limited responsibility by continuing to place a
preponderance of provocation on the victim, and he appears to continue to
struggle primarily with the intrapersonal aspects of the life crime.

Therefore, 1t appears at this time that the inmate does not have a thorough or
complete understanding of the causes and factors which contributed to his
commussion of the life crime. Thus, the inmate appears to have not fully explored
the comnutment offense, and his insight appears to be at a less than optimal level.
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Mzr. Hennen’s belief that his wife was partially to blame for provoking him shows that he has not
sufficiently examined himseif to determine what caused him to kill two innocent people. Until
he accepts full responsibility for his horrific actions, shows that understands why he took those
actions, and takes steps to ensure that he will not repeat them, he presents a continuing threat to
public safety if released from prison.

CONCLUSION:

I have considered the record the factors for assessing suitability or unsuitability for parole under
California Code of Regulations, Title 15, section 2402. 1 find that the negative factors I have
discussed demonstrate why Mr. Hennen currently poses an unreasonably risk of danger to
society if released from prison. Therefore, [ reverse the decision to parole Mr, Hennen.

EDMUND G. BROWN JR. '
Governor, State of California

Decision Date: January 28, 2011




INDETERMINATE SENTENCE PAROLE RELEASE REVIEW
(Penal Code Section 3041.2)

RICKY PEREZ, C-51533
Second-degree murder

AFFIRM:

MODIFY:

REVERSE: X

STATEMENT OF FACTS

According to the probation report, Carolyn Lugo was the mother of Ricky Perez’s friend. On
May 23, 1982, Ms. Lugo’s neighbor heard two people arguing. The neighbor subsequently saw
a male striking Ms. Lugo several times and dragging her to the side of the house. When Ms.
Lugo’s daughter arrived home, she found her mother’s body lying next to the driveway. She also
saw Mr. Perez leaving the area. Mr. Perez admitted that he killed Ms. Lugo but claimed he was
under the combined influence of LSD and aicohol.

Mr. Perez was arrested later the same day. He pled guilty to second-degree murder and admitted
that he used a deadly or dangerous weapon during the commission of the murder. Mr. Perez was
sentenced to 15 years to life in prison for murder and a consecutive one-year term for the use of a
weapon.

GOVERNING EAW:

The question is whether Mr. Perez will pese an unreasonable risk of danger to society if released
from prison. In considering whether he poses an unreasonable risk of danger, the circumstances
of his crime are evidence of his current dangerousness only if the record also establishes that
something in his pre-or post-incarceration history, or his current demeanor and mental state,
indicate that the implications regarding his dangerousness which stem from his commission of
the life offense remain probative of his posing a present threat to public safety within the
statutorily-prescribed analysis.’

DECISION:

After finding Mr. Perez unsuitable for parole 12 times, most recently on January 4, 2010, the
Board of Parole Hearings found Mr. Perez suitable for parole in response to an August 13, 2010
federal court order.

" In re Lawrence (20083 44 Cal, 4" 1181.
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[ acknowledge Mr. Perez has made some laudable gains while incarcerated. He earned a General
Equivalency Diploma in prison. Mr. Perez earned certificates in carpentry and machine shop.

He was also trained in dry cleaning. Mr. Perez held skilled institutional jobs as a laundry
laborer, culinary worker, machine operator, laborer, mechanic assistant, furniture assembler,
truck driver for the Prison Industry Authority’s laundry department, clothing room worker and
porter. He has participated in self-help and therapy programs, including substance abuse
treatment, stress management, individual psychotherapy and self-esteem training. Mr. Perez also
took several courses through Golden Hills Adult School Literacy Program. | commend Mr.
Perez for taking these positive steps. But they are outweighed by negative factors that
demonstrate he remains unsuitable for parole.

Mr, Perez’s crime was especially heinous and cruel. In a display of extreme callousness, after
stabbing the victim, Mr. Perez crushed her head with a large rock. The Coroner’s Investigative
Report described that Ms. Lugo suffered “extensive trauma to the head with several large gashes
appearing in the skin.” Mr. Perez’s inexplicable motive adds 1o the egregiousness of the crime.

Despite the fength of his incarceration, Mr. Perez has failed to develop adequate insight into the
reasons that caused him to commit such a horrific crime, In denying him parole as recently as
January 2010, the Presiding Commissioner stated, “What was concerning for me today is when |
asked you what was the motive, today you said it was anger. In the last hearing it was drugs.
And s0 it’s just, you know, it’s hard to get, for the Panel to get an understanding that you really
understood the causes of this crime and what was the motive. We just don’t know to this day.”
During his 2009 psychological evaluation, Mr. Perez described his memory of the murder as
“sketchy.” Nonetheless, he recalled drinking and using drugs with the victim’s son before the
murder. He went home to retrieve a kitchen knife before going to Ms, Lugo’s home. Mr. Perez
recalied arguing with Ms. Lugo, and in an effort to “shut her up,” he attempted {o slash her
throat. Mr. Perez further described how he “went crazy™ and stabbed Ms. Lugo. At some point,
he struck her in the head with a rock. The question is not whether Mr. Perez accepts.
responsibility for commitiing the murder, but whether he has gained an adequate understanding
of his actions. Based on the findings of his 2009 psychological evaluator, I conclude that he
lacks such an understanding. The psychologist wrote:

In [the clinical domain of risk assessment|, Mr. Perez continues to display
mmpaired insight into his life offense. I1e takes full responsibility for committing
the crime and has identified substance-use a contributing factor. However, he
continues to have great difficuity further exploring why he committed the offense.

The evaluator’s findings demonstrate that Mr. Perez has not sufficiently examined himself to
determine what caused him to kill an innocent victim. Until he shows that understands why he
took those actions, and takes steps to ensure that he will not repeat them, he presents a
continuing threat to public safety if released from prison.

Additional findings by the 2009 psychological evaluator cause me to question Mr. Perez’s
suitability for parole. As noted by previous Board panels, the psychologist noted that “Mr. Perez
also displayed some difficulty identifying high risk factors of suhstance use or potential for
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future violence, stating there are no risks of substance use or violence as he is confident he will
never abuse substances again.” Mr. Perez may be convinced, but [ note that the Septemiber 2010
Board expressed doubt, saying, “As he stated, he does not believe there is any chance he would
ever use substances again, and such a view is likely a high risk in itself, as believing he is at no
risk for relapse. And that belief creates little incentive to identify, avoid, prepare or adaptively
cope with any and all triggers for substance abuse once in the community.” Given the significant
role that drug and alcohol abuse played in Mr. Perez’s commission of the iife offense, his
overconfidence that he will not relapse, and his failure to offer anything but simplistic
explanations that ignore the possibility that he could relapse indicate to me that he has not
developed a sufficient understanding of his substance abuse problem. Until he addresses this
concern, he remains a risk to public safety.

I also note that the Santa Clara County District Attorney’s Office and the victim’s son and
daughters oppose Mr. Perez’s parole.

CONCLUSION:

When the parole board granted Mr. Perez parcle in September 2010, it was under compulsion to
do so by a federal court order. That federal court order improperly restricted the parole board’s
authority to assess Mr. Perez’s suitability for parole under California law. Just last month, the
United States Supreme Court clarified that federal courts are not permitted to reweigh the
evidenuary basis of California parole decisions. (See Swarthout v. Cooke, (2011) 562 U.S. |
2011 WL 197627). Public safety requires that before Mr. Perez is allowed to rejoin society, our
parole board first {ind him suitable for parole of its own accord, under governing legal principles.
and without the improper interference by the federal court.

I have considered the record and the factors for assessing suitability or unsuitability for parole
under California Code of Regulations, Title 15, section 2402. 1 find that the negative factors I
have discussed demonstrate why Mr. Perez currently poses an unreasonably risk of danger to
society if released from prison. Therefore, I reverse the decision to parole Mr. Perez.

T —

EDMUND G. BROWN IR
Governor, State of California

Fl P o f i
Decision Date; February 14, 2011 @\"\A—f' LS ‘{}/,?fﬁ f AN [ i




INDETERMINATE SENTENCE PAROLE RELEASE REVIEW
(Penal Code Section 3041.2)

RAYMOND SARABIA, H-31659
First-Degree Murder

AFFIRM:

MODIFY:

REVERSE: X

STATEMENT OF FACTS:

According to the probation report, on February 11, 1991, Raymond Sarabia, a member of the
“San Fer” street gang, shot and killed Francisco Gonzalez. On the day of the murder, Mr.
Sarabia armed himself with a handgun, and got into a pickup truck with other members of his
gang. Mr. Sarabia rode in the back of the truck under the camper shell as they drove into rival
gang territory. They spotted Mr, Gonzalez, a rival gang member, and two others walking
through the parking lot of a convenience store. Mr. Sarabia jumped out of the truck, walked up
to Mr. Gonzalez from the side, grabbed him by the hair pulling his head back, shoved the gun in
his face, and pulled the trigger. Mr. Gonzalez fell to the ground, while Mr. Sarabia and his
companions fled. Mr. Gonzalez died two days later,

Mr. Sarabia was arrested on March 7, 1991. He pled guilty to second-degree murder and was
sentenced to 15 years to life in prison,

GOVERNING LAW:

The question is whether Mr. Sarabia will pose an unreasonable risk of danger 160 society if
released from prison. In considering whether he poses an unreasonable risk of danger, the
circumstances of his crime are evidence of his current dangerousness only if the record also
establishes that something in his pre- or post-incarceration history, or his current demeanor and
mental state, indicate that the implications regarding his dangerousness that stem from his
commission of the life offense remain probative of his posing a present threat to public safety
within the statutorily-prescribed analysis. (In re Lawrence (2008) 44 Cal. 4™ 1181.)

DECISION:
The Board of Parole Hearings found Mr. Sarabia suitable for parole based upon his expressions

of remorse and insight, his presentation as a stable and hardworking individual, his
commendable institutional behavior over the past 11 years, and his realistic parole plans.
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[ agree with the Board that Mr. Sarabia has taken some positive steps while in prison. He earned
his General Equivalency Diploma. He completed vocational training in plumbing. He started
but-did not complete training in roofing, drywall, and masonry. He held institutional job
assignments as a porter and a landscaper. He participated in Alcoholics Anonymous and
Narcotics Anonymous from 1988 to 2004, He completed parent education programs, anger
nanagement programs, and various religious studies classes. He participated in Criminals and
Gang Members Anonymous, Breaking Barriers, and Creative Conflict Resolution. Upon his
release, he plans to reside at the San Fernando Recovery Center and has several job offers.
These positive factors Jend support to a finding of suitability for parole. But | believe they are
outweighed by negative factors demonstrating that Mr. Sarabia remains unsuitable for parole.

Mr. Sarabia has a significant history of violence. In 1987, at age 14, he and four other gang
members committed battery by punching and kicking a victim. Less than six months later, Mr.
Sarabia and two other gang members beat another victim. In 1990, Mr. Sarabia and two other
gang members were involved in a high speed police chase. During the chase, he threw a loaded
gun from the vehicle that discharged when it hit the ground. Later that same year, Mr. Sarabia
stopped a pedestrian and asked him where he was from. When the person answered, “Nowhere,”
he jumped out of his truck and hit the guy with a baseball bat. In light of these incidents, the life
offense appears to be a culmination of several years of violent, and often gang-related, conduct.

The murder Mr. Sarabia committed was especially heinous for several reasons. Mr. Sarabia
dispassionately carried out an execution-style murder. He showed an exceptional disregard for
human suffering by fleeing the scene while Mr. Gonzalez lay wounded on the ground. The fact
that he went armed into rival gang territory indicates premeditation. Also, the motive for the
murder is inexplicable or very trivial. After he was arrested, Mr. Sarabia told police that he
killed Mr. Gonzalez to avenge a previous gang slaying committed by Mr. Gonzalez’s gang. But
according to the probation report, the crime to which Mr, Sarabia referred happened more than a
year before he murdered Mr. Gonzalez. And other members of Mr. Sarabia’s gang said the
perpetrator of that crime was no longer alive when Mr. Sarabia committed the murder. As the
probation officer determined, it is more likely that Mr. Sarabia committed the murder to gain
status and recognition by his fellow gang members.

In addition, Mr. Sarabia continues to minimize his conduct. After he was arrested, he told the
probation officer that he didn’t mean to kill Mr. Gonzalez but he thought Mr. Gonzalez was
going to pull a gun on him. He stated at the time, he “never planned to be in another [gang]’s
area; | know better but I made a mistake.” Although he now clarifies that he did not see a gun,
he continues to indicate that Mr. Gonzalez provoked the attack. He told his 2009 mental-health
evaluator:

“Two guys [i.e., the victim] and a girl were walking in the same direction [as me and a
friend]. The other guy walked up to my friend and got into words. The victim came
towards me. There was nothing said. 1was under the influence. He had a smirk on his
face. I told him ‘what’s up’ twice. He just kept walking towards me. When [ seen was
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[sic] he reached into his waist band and 1 did not see a gun. 1 pulled out a gun from my
pocket and 1 shot him.”

At his September 2010 parole suitability hearing, Mr. Sarabia stuck to this version of the murder.
He told the hearing panei that Mr. Gonzalez smirked at him, then “reached in his waistband, and
that’s what caused me to do that.” Mr. Sarabia also told the hearing panel that he shot Mr.
Gonzalez from about six feet away. The hearing panel informed him that the autopsy results
showed that Mr. Gonzalez had stippling of about an eighth of an inch of soot on his forehead
around the bullet wound, and that sort of stippling normally does not happen when someone is
shot that far away. Mr. Sarabia then said he might have been as close as two or three feet away
when he shot Mr. Gonzalez.

Mr. Sarabia’s version portrays Mr. Gonzalez as having made threatening actions that provoked
the attack, and suggests that he believed Mr. Gonzalez was going to pull out a weapon and attack
him. But Mr. Sarabia’s version is at odds with the official record, which indicates that he went
into rival gang territory armed with a gun and looking to use it on a rival gang member,
According to the record, Mr. Gonzalez did not provoke the attack. Rather, Mr. Sarabia was out
looking to kill a rival gang member, and when he identified Mr. Gonzalez as a rival gang
member, he walked up to him and coldly executed him at point-blank range.

[ agree with the mental-health evaluator’s conclusion that Mr. Sarabia “appears to be minimizing
his behavior leading to the commitment offense. This appears to limit his insight into his
previous pattern of violent behavior including his actions contributing to the victim’s death.”

His failure 1o accept responsibility for his actions offers no assurance that he will not commit a
similar act in the future.

The 2009 mental-health evaluation raises additional concerns, The evaluator found that Mr.
Sarabia’s scores indicate a medium to high risk for general recidivism. The evaluator also
determined that Mr. Sarabia’s scores placed him in the low to moderate risk range of future
violence in the community. Besides the lack of insight, this elevated assessment is based on his
“history of previous violence, young age at first violent incident, substance abuse problems, early
maladjustment, personality disorder, and prior supervision failure.” These findings and elevated
risk assessments support my determination that Mr. Sarabia continues to pose a risk to public
safety.

I note that Mr. Sarabia retained a private psychologist who prepared a favorable psychological
evaluation in July 2010. But I put little weight in this assessment. Although the private
evaluation is somewhat more recent, the 2009 evaluation is by no means out-dated. And unlike
the psychologist Mr. Sarabia hired, the parole board psychologist did not have a financial
incentive to prepare a favorable report.
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CONCLUSION:

I have considered the record and the factors for assessing suitability and unsuitability for parole
under California Code of Regulations, Title 15, section 2402. I find that the negative factors I
have discussed demonstrate why Mr. Sarabia currently poses an unreasonably risk of danger to
society if released from prison. Therefore, I reverse the decision to parole Mr. Sarabia.

e 0 13,
Date: February 18, 2011 X ;Q M

EDMUND G. BROWNUR., ¢
Governor, State of California




INDETERMINATE SENTENCE PAROLE RELEASE REVIEW
(Penal Code Section 3041.2)

DAVID KURTZMAN, D-35713
Second-degree murder

AFFIRM:

MODIFY:

REVERSE: X

STATEMENT OF FACTS

According to the appellate court decision affirming David Kurtzman’s conviction, on August 3,
1985, Mr. Kurtzman stabbed Michael Stephenson to death. Mr. Kurtzman was a student at a
preparatory school in Santa Barbara at the time. Two nights before the murder, a group of four
students who shared the same dormitory as Mr. Kurtzman were involved in a confrontation with
members of a gang called the City Rockers. One of the students involved in the confrontation
was James Tramel. After the confrontation, the four students returned to the dormitory and
shared what had happened with Mr. Kurtzman and other students.

Mr, Kurtzman, Mr. Tramel, and another student planned to retaliate against the gang. On the
night of the murder, the three of them headed into downtown Santa Barbara where the
confrontation with the City Rockers had taken place. Mr. Tramel was carrying a six-inch
military knife. Mr, Tramel saw a person whom he believed to be a gang member. He and Mr.
Kurtzman followed this person but lost him in a city park. While at the park, they happened
upon Mr. Stephenson, who had been sleeping in a gazebo in the park. After a brief conversation
with Mr. Stephenson, Mr. Kurtzman attacked him, Mr. Kurtzman stabbed Mr. Stephenson
seventeen times, then slashed his throat. Mr. Stephenson died from his wounds.

Mr. Kurtzman was arrested the next day. He was a juvenile at the time of the murder, but was
tried as an adult. A jury convicted him of second-degree murder and found that he used a deadly
or dangerous weapon. Mr. Kurtzman was sentenced to 15 years to life in prison for murder and a
consecutive one-year term for the use of a weapon. The judgment was affirmed on appeal.

GOVERNING LAW:

The question is whether Mr. Kurtzman will pose an unreasonable risk of danger to society if
released from prison. In considering whether he poses an unreasonable risk of danger, the
circumstances of his crime are evidence of his current dangerousness only if the record also
establishes that something in his pre-or post-incarceration history, or his current demeanor and
mental state, indicate that the implications regarding his dangerousness which stem from his
commission of the life offense remain probative of his posing a present threat to public safety
within the statutorily-prescribed analysis. (Jn re Lawrence (2008) 44 Cal. 4t 1181.)
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DECISION:

The Board of Parole Hearings found Mr. Kurtzman suitable for parole based upon his lack of a
prior criminal record, positive institutional behavior, expressions of remorse, an enhanced ability
to function within the law upon release, realistic parole plans, and a decreased risk of recidivism.

Mr. Kurtzman has taken some positive steps while incarcerated. He camed an Associate of Arts
Degree. He also took courses toward a Bachelor of Science Degree in Business Administration.

- He earned certificates in landscaping, radiological technology, and sewing machine repair. He
became a certified optician and contact lens technician. In addition, he participated in several
self-help courses addressing personal development, substance abuse, group and individual
therapy, anger management, alternatives to violence, conflict resolution and stress management.
I commend Mr. Kurtzman for making these efforts to improve himself. But they are outweighed
by negative factors that demonstrate he remains unsuitable for parole.

Mr. Kurtzman’s crime was senseless and brutally violent. He stabbed Mr. Stephenson
approximately seventeen times and then slashed his throat. The probation report notes that,
when his body was located, Mr. Stephenson had a five-inch long wound across the lower portion
of his neck, which left the neck organs exposed. The crime involved premeditation. As the
appellate record notes, Mr. Tramel told students with whom he shared his dormitory that
retaliation required the purchase of dark clothing, knives, climbing ropes, grappling hooks and
materials for making sodium bombs. On the evening of the murder, Mr. Kurtzman and his
friends dressed in dark clothing and went out looking for local “hot spots™ frequented by the
members of the gang with whom they had the earlier confrontation. When a fellow student
asked Mr. Kurtzman and Mr. Tramel whether they planned to kill someone with the knife, Mr.
Kurtzman replied either, “[w]e have to” or “[i]f we have to,” His apparent motive of seeking
retaliation for a confrontation in which he was not even involved was exceedingly trivial in
relation to the magnitude of the offense he committed.

Despite the length of his incarceration, Mr. Kurtzman has failed to develop adequate insight into
the reasons that he committed such a horrific erime. Mr. Kurtzman told his 2009 psychological
evaluator that he believed Mr. Stephenson, whom he claims was searching through his
belongings, was retrieving a weapon. When the victim stood up, Mr. Kurtzman reported that he
began attacking him as the result of increasing paranoia and fear. He said he had experienced
years of being bullied and had little self-worth. When the evaluator asked him why he continued
to stab Mr. Stephenson, even after he slashed his neck, Mr, Kurtzman indicated that the only way
to remove the threat was to ensure that the victim stopped moving.

Mr. Kurtzman told the evaluator that he thought 29-year-old Mr. Stephenson was a member of
the gang involved in the previous confrontation. But according to Mr. Kurtzman’s account of
the crime considered by the 2009 hearing panel, before attacking Mr. Stephenson he asked Mr.
Tramel if Mr. Stephenson was a member of the gang. Mr. Tramel replied, “1 don’t know, he
could be.” The 2009 hearing panel found that it was clear Mr. Stephenson was not a member of
the gang because he was much older than the members they were looking for. So Mr.
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Kurtzman's statement that he believed Mr. Stephenson was a gang member is undermined by the
record, including Mr. Kurtzman’s earlier statements.

Likewise, the other reasons Mr. Kurtzman gave to the 2009 psychological evaluator-—paranoia,
fear, low-self worth, and having been bullied —-do not adequately explain why he committed
such an excessively violent murder of someone he had never met, and who had not even been
involved in the earlier confrontation with his friends.

Mr. Kurtzman exercised his right not to discuss the circumstances of the crime with the 2010
Board. Nonetheless, his current version describes Mr. Stephenson as having made a threatening
action that provoked the attack, and suggests that he believed Mr. Stephenson was going to
retrieve a weapon and attack him. But Mr. Kurtzman’s version is inconsistent with the official
record, which indicates that he and his friends went to the same location where the earlier
confrontation occurred armed with a knife and intended to use it on one of the gang members.
According to the appellate record, Mr. Stephenson did not provoke the attack. To the contrary,
Mr. Stephenson had been sleeping in the park and was rolling up his sleeping bag when Mr.
Kurtzman coldly stabbed him and slashed his throat.

My concern is heightened by the fact that the 2010 Board expressed reluctance in granting Mr.
Kurtzman parole. In so doing, the Board raised concerns about Mr. Kurtzman’s lack of insight,
but noted that it was under compulsion of a court order, stating:

“In 2004, 2007 and 2009, it was the commitment offense and lack of insight into
the causative factors that were brought up as reasons for [the] denial [of parole}.
This Panel also had some concerns with the insight, and again, we did take notice
that the court order precluded us from using that. We didn’t agree with what the
court order, in fact, that the lack of insight was something that you couldn’t gain
and couldn’t get into as far as they felt you had sufficient insight, and several of
the psychological reports. There’s just some uneasiness on the Panel as it was
brought up at your previous hearings, the recent ones, as far as why you did what
you did and coming to terms with that.”

Mr. Kurtzman’s belief that his victim provoked him in any way demonstrates that he has not
sufficiently examined himseif to determine what caused him to kill an innocent individual. Until
he accepts full responsibility for his murderous actions, shows that understands why he took
those actions, and takes steps to ensure that he will not repeat them, he presents a continuing
threat to public safety if released from prison.

I additionally note that the Santa Barbara County District Attorney’s Office and the vietim’s
father and stepmother oppose Mr. Kurtzman’s parole.
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CONCLUSION:

[ have considered the record and the factors for assessing suitability or unsuitability for parole
under California Code of Regulations, Title 15, section 2402. 1 find that the negative factors |
have discussed demonstrate why Mr. Kurtzman currently poses an unreasonable risk of danger to
society if released from prison. Therefore, I reverse the decision to parole Mr. Kurtzman.

Decision Date: February 24, 2011

EDMUND G. BROWN JR. \
Governor, State of California



INDETERMINATE SENTENCE PAROLE RELEASE REVIEW
(Penal Code Section 3041.2)

LARRY DUN, B-81995
First-degree murder

AFFIRM:

MODIFY:

REVERSE: X

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On February 5, 1976, Larry Dun raped and murdered his neighbor, Maryanne Jacobs. On that
day, Mr. Dun went to Mrs. Jacobs’s home carrying a knife. He told her that he wanted to obtain
some information about a contractor. As they were talking inside her house, he noticed another
knife in her kitchen. He picked up that knife, and noticed that she became afraid. He ordered
her to s1t down and be quiet. He got some rope, tied up her wrists, and raped her. When she
tried to sit up, he stabbed her. He then continued to stab her over and over again. He slashed her
and brutally battered her head and body with a blunt object. Mrs. Jacobs died from her injuries.

The autopsy disclosed 23 significant wounds, in addition to numerous scratches and bruises. Of
the wounds, 18 were stab wounds in the neck, back, chest, and abdomen areas, seven of which
entered the chest or abdominal cavity, and penetrated deep organs. Three of the wounds were
incised, the most significant of which was a “gaping wound” on the front of her neck that
severed all structures except the backbone. Another wound ran across Mrs. Jacobs’s eyes and
the bridge of her nose, which cut into one of her eyeballs. She suffered two fractured ribs, and a
skull fracture from blunt force trauma to the front and back of her head. Her death resulted from
a massive hemorrhage. Blood was found splattered throughout the house including the walls,
furnishings, and bathroom.

Mr. Dun was arrested the next day. He was convicted of first-degree murder, forcible rape, and
first-degree robbery, and sentenced to an indeterminate term of life in prison.

GOVERNING LAW;

The question I must answer is whether Mr. Dun will pose a current danger to the public if
released. In answering this question, I must examine the same record that was before the Board
of Parole Hearings and adhere to the same legal standards. The circumstances of the crime can
provide evidence of current dangerousness when the record also establishes that something in the
inmate’s pre- or post-incarceration history, or the inmate’s current demeanor and mental state,
indicate that the circumstances of the crime remain probative of current dangerousness. (/n re
Lawrence (2008) 44 Cal. 4" 1181, 1214.) In rare circumstances, the aggravated nature of the
crime alone can provide a valid bams for denying parole even when there is strong evidence of
rehabilitation and no other evidence of current dangerousness. (/d. at pp. 1211, 1214.)
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DECISION:

The Board found Mr. Dun suitable for parole based on his lack of an assaultive juvenile history,
an enhanced ability to function within the law upon release, positive institutional behavior,
realistic parole plans and a reduced risk of recidivism.

[ acknowledge Mr. Dun has made efforts to improve himself while incarcerated. He eamed an
Associate of Arts degree. He earned certificates in landscaping and welding, and was trained in
small engine repair. He held skilled institutional jobs as an aide/mentor in the Mental Health
Program, Arts in Corrections crew member, custodian, clerk, dental technician and surgery
technician. Mr. Dun also participated in self-help and therapy programs, including Alcoholics
Anonymous, Narcotics Anonymous, A Framework for Recovery, Advanced Relaxation Training
Group, Anger Control Training Group, Arts in Corrections, Asian Pacific Studies Group,
Beginning Stress Management and Relaxation Skills Training, Communication Skills Group,
Hands of Peace/Friends Outside Creative Conflict Resolution workshop, individual therapy,
Lifer Decision Making and Introspective Analysis therapy group, Personal Adjustment Skills
Group, pre-release courses, psychotherapy, Rapha 12-Step Program, Rational Behavior Training
therapy group, Self-Esteem and Assertiveness Training Group, sex offender treatment, stress
management and tolerance, Substance Abuse Group and Victim Awareness Offender’s Progran.
[ commend Mr. Dun for taking these positive steps. But they are outweighed by negative factors
that demonstrate he remains unsuitable for parole.

Mr. Dun’s crime was absolutely horrific. After invading the privacy of Mrs. Jacobs’s home, he
initiated an unprovoked, vicious attack on a vulnerable, unsuspecting victim. He tied her up,
raped her, beat her, and stabbed her repeatedly. Mrs. Jacobs suffered 23 significant wounds, 18
of which were stab wounds to her neck, back, chest and abdomen. Some of the wounds were
inflicted with such great force that they penetrated deep organs. The probation report noted
“large slicing wounds” on her neck and face. And Mr. Dun’s motive for the crime is
inexplicable. As our Supreme Court has acknowledged, in rare circumstances, a murder is so
heinous that it provides evidence of current dangerous by itself. This is such a case.

But there is more evidence that Mr. Dun remains dangerous. Notably, his history of sexual
assaults and his failure to avail himself of adequate therapy to address this behavior weigh
heavily against his suitability for parole. Besides the sexual offenses committed during the life
crime, in the probation report, Mr. Dun admitted to two prior sexual acts in the past. These
actions show anger and violence of a sexual nature toward women.

Although Mr. Dun has taken numerous self help classes, he has not taken any courses on
domestic violence or abuse prevention against women. Given his history of sexual assaults, and
the severity of the crime, Mr. Dun has not done enough to address the reasons that caused him to
perpetrate acts of violence against women. 1 agree with Mr. Dun’s 2005 psychological
evaluator, who wrote, “The nature of the crime indicates that Mr. Dun acted in a sadistic and
callous manner. This type of act should be weighted heavily as it is a sign of an enduring
personality dysfunction.”
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Mr. Dun identified “feelings of estrangement and abandonment in his family, and . . . feelings of
disempowerment in his community” as the causes of his “feelings toward women.” My concem
is therefore heightened by the 2008 psychological evaluator’s finding that Mr, Dun “remains
somewhat isolated interpersonally.” Until he gains the tools and skills necessary to avoid future
acts of violence, I believe he remains an unreasonable risk to public safety.

I recognize that Mr. Dun’s 2008 psychological evaluation rates him as having sufficient insight
into the crime, and as presenting a low risk to society if released. But unfortunately, the
evaluator’s assessments cannot be relied upon because they were premised on a gross
niischaracterization of the nature and gravity of Mr. Dun’s crime. According to the version of
the crime the psychologist relied on, after Mr. Dun raped Mrs. Jacobs, “he stabbed her.” That
single statement 1s the only description the psychologist gave of Mr. Dun’s murderous acts. The
psychologist failed to recognize the evidence documenting that he stabbed her 18 times in her
neck, back, chest, and abdomen areas, that he slashed her face and eyes, that he cut her throat
almost to the point of decapitation, and that he bashed in her head and ribs with a blunt object.
In addition to inaccurately minimizing the severity of Mr. Dun’s crime, the psychologist relied
on self-serving statements from1 Mr. Dun that he tried to call for help and give Mrs. Jacobs a
glass of water, and ultimately ran away in a panic. The description the psychologist relied upon
bears little resemblance to what the record shows actually transpired. Rather than assessing Mr.
Dun with an accurate understanding of his excessively brutal killing of Mrs. Jacobs, the
psychologist relied on a version that made it sound as though Mr. Dun did not mean to kill Mrs.
Jacobs at all.

1 do not believe that an evaluation premised on a mischaracterization of the crime is reliable. My
concern is supported by the 2005 psychological evaluation that deemed Mr. Dun a “Moderate to
High” risk for future violence. Given the severity of Mr. Dun’s crime, it would be irresponsible
to release him back into society without first having a psychologist conduct a new evaluation of
him that is premised on an accurate description of his crime and the other relevant aspects of the
record. Until that occurs, | must continue to give weight to the 2005 evaluator’s conclusion that
Mr, Dun poses an elevated risk of violence to society if released.

At Mr. Dun’s past several parole hearings, the Board has concluded that he does not fuily
understand why he committed such an excessively violent crime. At his most recent hearing,
Mr. Dun exercised his right not to discuss the factual circumstances of the life offense. But this
choice leaves important questions about his insight into this brutal murder unaddressed. Until he
shows that understands why he took those actions, and takes steps to ensure that he will not
repeat them, he presents a continuing threat to public safety it released from prison.

I also note that several members of Mrs. Jacobs’s family, as well as the San Joaquin County
District Attorney’s Office, the San Joaquin County Sheriff-Coroner, the Stockton Chief of
Police, and several members of the community oppose Mr. Dun’s parole.
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CONCLUSION:

I have considered the record and the factors for assessing suitability or unsuitability for parole
under California Code of Regulations, Title 13, section 2402. 1 find that the negative factors I
have discussed demonstrate why Mr. Dun currently poses an unreasonable risk of danger to
society if released from prison. Therefore, I reverse the decision to parole Mr. Dun.

Decision Date: February 25, 2011

EDMUND G. BROWN JR.
Governor, State of California



INDETERMINATE SENTENCE PAROLE RELEASE REVIEW
(Penal Code Section 3041.2)

JOSE YVALENZUELA, C-68910
Second-degree murder

AFFIRM:

MODIFY:

REVERSE: X

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 7, 1983, Jose Valenzuela and two friends were drinking beer and playing pool at a bar.
While at the bar, Mr. Valenzuela and one of his friends got into an argument with Vicente Mora
and another man. Two days later, Mr. Valenzuela returned to the bar with a shotgun, and spotted
Mr. Mora. Mr. Valenzuela walked up to Mr. Mora from behind, and shot him in the back. Mr.
Mora died instantly. Mr. Valenzuela then fled the scene.

GOVERNING LAW:

The question I must answer is whether Mr. Valenzuela will pose a current danger to the public if
released from prison. In answering this question, I must examine the same record that was
before the Board of Parole Hearings and adhere to the same legal standards. The circumstances
of his crime can provide evidence of his current dangerousness when the record also establishes
that something in his pre-or post-incarceration history, or his current demeanor and mental state,
indicate that the circumstances of the crime remain probative of current dangerousness. (/n re
Lawrence (2008) 44 Cal. 4" 1181.)

DECISION:

On September 28, 2010, the Board of Parole Hearings found Mr. Valenzuela suitable for parole
based on his expression of remorse, earning a General Equivalency Diploma, completion of
vocational training, positive institutional employment record, participation in Alcoholics
Anonymous and other self-help programs, realistic parole plans, and age.

I acknowledge Mr. Valenzuela has made some laudable gains while incarcerated. He earned a
General Equivalency Diploma, obtained three vocational certificates, and held a number of
skilled institutional jobs. He has participated in some self-help and therapy programs, including
Alcoholics Anonymous and Narcotics Anonymous from 1990-1992, 1996, 1999-2001, 2004,
2006-2010, anger management courses, a domestic violence seminar, Fathers Behind Bars
seminars and Seeking Peaceful Solutions substance abuse program seminars. 1 commend Mr.
Valenzuela for taking these positive steps. But they are outweighed by negative factors that
demonstrate he poses a current danger to society if released.
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The murder of Mr. Mora was a premeditated attack carried out in a calculated and dispassionate
manner. Mr. Valenzuela armed himself and went looking for Mr, Mora and, upon finding him,
walked up behind him and shot him in the back. Mr. Valenzuela decided to kill Mr. Mora for an
exceedingly trivial reason—a desire for revenge over an argument.

In addition to the life offense, Mr. Valenzuela has a long history of violence and failure to
comply with societal and institutional rules. Prior to the life offense, Mr. Valenzuela was
convicted of carrying a concealed weapon and was arrested on two other occasions for assault
with a deadly weapon. While incarcerated, Mr. Valenzuela has received 19 rules violation
reports, two of which involved violence and one as recent as 2005 for manufacturing alcohol.
He also has been counseled for misconduct on 11 occasions, with the most recent occurring in
2009. While Mr. Valenzuela’s behavior has improved recently, this relatively short period of
positive behavior pales in comparison to his decades of misconduct, which provide ample
evidence that he remains a danger to society if released from prison at this time.

Similarly, Mr. Valenzuela’s recent period of sobricty comes after years of substance abuse, both
in and out of prison. Mr. Valenzuela was under the influence of alcohol at the time he
committed the life offense. Eleven of Mr. Valenzuela’s rules violation reports directly involve
drugs or alcohol. Mr. Valenzuela told the Board in 2010 that he did not take his substance abuse
problem seriously until after receiving his last rules violation report in 2005. But in 2008,
Valenzuela’s psychological evaluator found that he “did not possess significant insight into the
true nature of his substance abuse problem, nor did he demonstrate a meaningful commitment to
remaining sober or participating in treatment.” Considering the severity and length of Mr.
Valenzuela’s substance abuse problem, as well as the questions concerning his current
commitment to remain sober, Mr. Valenzuela remains significantly susceptible to relapse and
therefore more likely to commit further offenses.

I am also troubled by Mr. Valenzuela’s refusal to accept responsibility for the murder of Mr.
Mora. At his 2010 Board hearing, Mr. Valenzuela reaffirmed his claim that he blacked-out due
to alcohol consumption on the night of the murder and did not remember any details from the
crime, except that he did not intentionally shoot Mr. Mora. These claims conflict with the
findings in the probation report, and defy common sense. By refusing to admit that he
intentionally shot Mr. Mora, Mr. Valenzuela is refusing to accept responsibility for his actions.
His failure to accept responsibility for his actions offers no assurance that he would not commit a
similar act in the future.

Similarly, Valenzuela’s psychological evaluator in 2008 found that his empathy toward the crime
and the victim “appeared somewhat disingenuous and superficial, suggesting that he may not
fully understand the impact of his actions.” The psychologist went on to say that Mr. Valenzuela
“continues to avoid internal exploration of some of the underlying causes of his choices and
actions.” The psychologist further commented that Mr. Valenzuela’s expression of remorse
regarding the life crime was “unemotional, and self-focused ... rather than an internalized,
emotional sense of regret and remorse.” Mr. Valenzuela’s lack of insight and remorse evidences
a failure to appreciate the wrongfulness of his past actions and creates serious concerns regarding
his ability to refrain from violent behavior in the future.
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Mr. Valenzuela’s most recent risk assessment scores bolster the conclusion that he poses an
unreasonable risk of danger to society if released from prison. Mr. Valenzuela’s 2008
psychological evaluation found that he scored in the “moderate™ range for psychopathy, rated in
the “moderate™ category for both risk of violent recidivism and general recidivism, and that
overall he posed a “moderate™ risk of violence in the free community. According to the
psychologist, Mr. Valenzuela’s elevated risk Tor violent recidivism is based on historical factors
such as his prior criminal acts and history of substance abuse, as well as more current and
dynamic factors including his lack of insight and negative attitudes regarding his criminality and
past behavior. The psychologist’s assessment that Valenzuela overall posed a moderate risk of
violence was based primarily on his failure to voluntarily recognize his significant substance
abuse problem and his lack of commitment to treatment in the free community, as well as his
tack of insight into the impact of his actions and lack of empathy for the victim.

CONCLUSION:

[ have considered the record and the factors for assessing suitability or unsuitability for parole
under California Code of Regulations, Title 15, section 2402. I find that the negative factors I
have discussed demonstrate why Mr. Valenzuela currently poses an unreasonably risk of danger
to society if released from prison. Therefore, I reverse the decision to parole Mr. Valenzuela.

EDMUND G. BROWN JR.#
Govemor, State of California

Decision Date: February 25, 2011




INDETERMINATE SENTENCE PAROLE RELEASE REVIEW
(Penal Code Section 3041.2)

SEAN VELAZCO, E-45520
Second-degree murder

AFFIRM:

MODIFY:

REVERSE: X

STATEMENT OF FACTS

According to a 1992 appellate court decision, on June 8, 1988, Sean Velazco' was waiching
movies and drinking beer at a friend’s house. At about 10:00 p.m., Mr. Velazco and another
friend left and went to the home that Mr. Velazco shared with his 81-year-old grandmother,
Louise Murata. While at his house, Mr. Velazco and his friend smoked cocaine. A short time
later, as Mr. Velazco was leaving to take his friend home, he got in an argument with Ms.
Murata, who pled with him not to leave the house,

Early the next morning. Mr. Velazco called emergency personnel to request medical assistance at
his house. When paramedics arived. Mr. Velazco met them at the door. Mr. Velazco toid the
paramedics that he had killed his grandmother and showed thein the cooking pot he had struck
her with. When the police arrived, Mr. Velazco stated, “T just fost it...] couldn’t stand to see her
suffer any longer.” Mr. Velazco admitted that he had struck Ms. Murata several times with the
pot and then placed his hand over her mouth and nose and suffocated her.

GOVERNING LAW:

The question I must answer is whether Mr. Valazco will pose a current danger 1o the public if
released. In answering this question, I nust examine the same record that was before the parole
board and adhere to the same legal standards. The circumstances of his crime can provide
evidence of his current dangerousness when the record also establishes that something in his pre-
or post-incarceration history, or his current demeanor and mental state, indicate that the
circumstances of the crime remain probative of current dangerousness. (In re Lawrence (2008)
44 Cal. 4" 1181)

DECISION:

On September 29, 2010, the Board of Parole Hearings found Mr. Velazco suitable for parole
based on his lack of a erinunal record, lack of serious institutional misconduct, educational and
vocational upgrades, demonstration of insight and remorse, participation in Alcoholics
Anonymous and other self-help programs, realistic parole plans, and age.

' Mr. Velazco's last name is sometimes misspelled in the record as “Velasco.” The proper spelling is “Velazco.”
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1 acknowledge Mr. Velazco has made a number of laudable gains while incarcerated. He earned
an Associate of Arts degree, completed vocational training, and held skilled institutional jobs.
He also has participated in Alcoholics Anonymous/Narcotics Anonymous since 1990, as well as
other self-help programming, including anger management courses, Alternative to Violence
Project workshops, the Life Skills Program, and the IMPACT victim’s awareness workshop. I
commend Mr. Velazco for taking these positive steps. But they are outweighed by negative
factors that demonstrate he poses a current danger to society if released.

Mr. Velazco carried out the murder of his grandmother in an especially atrocious manner. In
beating his elderly and vulnerable victim with a pot and then suffocating her to death, he showed
an extreme callous disregard for her suffering. The crime is especially troubling considering Mr.
Velazco held a position of trust with Ms. Murata as her caretaker and grandson. Further, Mr.
Velazco’s motive for killing the woman who had cared for him much of his childhood, while not
entirely clear, certainly is very trivial in relation to the offense.

In addition to the horrendous nature of the crime, it is troubling that Mr. Velazco has provided
varving accounts of his motivation for killing his grandmother and still maintains that he was
motivated. in part. to end her suffering. According to the 1993 appellate court decision, he told
police that Ms. Murata was complaining that her head hurt and that he “couldn’t stand to see her
suffer any longer” so he killed her. Mr. Velazco has changed his story somewhat, teliing his
psychological evaluator in 2010 that inunediately before the murder, Ms. Murata was
challenging Mr. Velazco on his behavior and telling him that she could not take it anymore. Mr.
Velazco said that upon hearing this from his grandmother he “snapped™ and attacked her. But he
did not completely abandon his claim that it was a mercy killing, teliing the psychologist that he
thought at the time that he was “putting her out of her misery” and explaining that the path his
life was headed, as a result of his drug use, and the disrespectful nature with which he treated his
grandmother, was causing her pain. Mr, Velazco’s present claim that he killed his grandmother
to ease the emotional pain appears to be a rationalization. By clinging to this belief that he was,
in part, motivated to kill Ms. Murata in order to end her suffering, Mr. Velasco fails to accept full
responsibility for his actions. His failure to do so and lack of insight into his crime makes it
substantially more likely that he would commit a similar act in the future.

CONCLUSION:

1 have considered the record and the factors for assessing suitability or unsuitability for parole
under California Code of Regulations, Title 15, section 2402. 1 find that the negative factors [
have discussed demonstrate why Mr. Velazco currently poses an unreasonably risk of danger to
society if released from prison. Therefore, I reverse the decision to parole Mr, Velazco.
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EDMUND G. BROWN JR/ ¢
Governor, State of California



INDETERMINATE SENTENCE PAROLE RELEASE REVIEW
(Penal Code Section 3041.2)

DOUGLAS DUSTIN, K-06121
First-degree murder

AFFIRM:

MODIFY:

REVERSE: X

STATEMENT OF FACTS:

According to the appellate court decision affirming Douglas Dustin’s conviction, Mr, Dustin
learned that his wife, Heidi Dustin, was having an affair. In March 1985, Mr. and Mrs. Dustin
separated. Mrs. Dustin moved into their vacation home in San Diego. In March 1986, Mrs.
Dustin filed for divorce. On September 13, 1987, Mr. Dustin drove from Los Angeles to San
Diego. Ataround 7:15 p.m., Mrs. Dustin’s neighbors heard gunshots followed by Mrs. Dustin
screaming. “help me. help me.” Two neighbors saw Mrs. Dustin run into the street, chased by
Mr. Dustin. Mr. Dustin fired once and Mrs. Dustin fell into the street. He then put the gun to her
head and fired two more times. Mrs. Dustin died from the gunshot wounds.

Mr. Dustin surrendered himself to law enforcement officials on September 14, 1987, A jury
convicted him of first-degree murder and found that he used a firearm in the commission of the
crime. In the sanity phase, a mistrial was declared when the jury was unable to reach a verdict.
A second sanity trial resulted in a mistrial for the same reason. Mr. Dustin filed a petition for a
new trial as to his guilt. The Court granted the petition. But before the trial began, the court
suspended proceedings based on doubts about Mr. Dustin’s mental competence. After Mr.
Dustin was tound mentally competent to stand trial, he waived his right to a jury trial and
stipulated to have the court decide both guilt and sanity. The court found him guilty of first-
degree murder with a firearm-use enhancement. The court also found that My. Dustin was sane
at the time ot the crime. He was sentenced to 25 years to life in prison for murder and a two-year
consecutive term for the use of a firearm. The judgment was affirmed on appeal.

GOVERNING LAW:

The question is whether Mr. Dustin 1s currently a danger to the public. In answering this
question, I must examine the same record that was before the Board of Parole Hearings and
adhere to the same legal standards. The circumstances of the crime can provide evidence of
current dangercusness when the record also establishes that something in the inmate’s pre- or
post-incarceration history. or the inmate’s current demeanor and mental state. indicate that the
circumstanees of the crime remains probative of current dangerousness. (i re Lawrence (2008)
44 Cal. 4" 1181, 1214)
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DECISION:

The Board of Parole Hearings found Mr. Dustin suitable {or parole based upon his expressions of
remorse, a reduced risk of recidivism. positive institutional behavior, an enhanced ability to
function within the law upon release, realistic parole plans, and his lack of a prior criminal
record. The Board further found that e was under “signiticant stress™ at the time of the murder
based. in part, on the fact that he was experiencing a divorce,

Mr. Dustin has made some gains while incarcerated. He entered prison a highly educated
endodontist. In prison, he held an institutional job as a porter. He has also participated in some
self-help and therapy programs, including Arts in Corrections, Celebrate Recovery Program, a
nutrition and diabetes class, 40 Days of Purpose Driven Life and a relationships group. 1
commend Mr. Dustin for taking these positive steps, but they are outweighed by negative factors
that demonstrate he remains unsuitable for parole.

Mr. Dustin’s crime was vicious and cruel. As the probation officer noted, in this “carefully
planned, premeditated murder, obsessive jealousy appears to have turned into violence and
rage.” After stalking his wife for nearly a year, Mr. Dustin confronted her at their home in San
Diego, in viclation of a restraining order. After firing initial shots, he chased Mrs. Dustin and
shot her again, causing her to fall to the ground. Then he placed the gun to her head and shot her
in an execution-style manner. As the 2010 Board noted, the crime was a terrible and tragic.

I am also concerned by Mr. Dustin’s longstanding history of mental illness. Tweo mental health
professionals who evaluated Mr. Dustin after the life offense concluded that he suffered from
depression when he murdered Mrs. Dustin. Additionally, according to the Sentencing Statement
submitted by Mr. Dustin’s trial attorney. Mr. Dustin shot and killed his wife ““as a result of his
mental illness, psychotic major depression. and his indoctrination in *Born-Again Marriages.” a
cult like group which espouses supposed biblical punishment for adultery and reunification of
estranged spouses, either on earth or in heaven.” His mental health problems have continued in
prison. According to a medical chrono dated June 10. 1996. My, Dustin “suffers from severe
depression with psychotic features and has had several suicide attempts.” His 2010
psychological evaluator diagnosed him with major depression with psychotic features, in partial
remission. 1{find it equally alarming that the evaluator opined that Mr. Dustin:

“continues to demonstrate some symptoms of a dependent nature such that
he has exhibited fearfulness of independent freedom. some tendency
toward over reliance on others, fear of separation, excessive reliance on
others (¢.g. group, structured setting) to assume responsibility. As such,
he is diagnosed with Personality Disorder Not Otherwise Specified with
Obsessive-Compulsive and Dependent traits,”

He was reported as having symptoms of psychosis and depression in February 2007, After he
was denied parole in October 2007, his participation in mental health programs dropped off.
This causes me concern that if released, problems in life may cause him to stop participating in
the self-help and mental-health programs he will need. In August 2008, he experienced suicidal
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ideation after distress stemming from the decision to place him in a lower level of mental health
care. If'these types of changes have caused him suicidal thoughts and distress in the prison
setting, | am concerned that his mental state could be negatively affected by the changes in his
life that would be caused by his release back into society. Given that many of these
characteristics undoubtedly contributed to Mr. Dustin’s decision to viciously murder his wife. |
believe thetr continued validity remains predictive of his current dangerousness.

In 2006. he is documented as having felt agitation and resentment hecause he believed he had
been held unlawfully since December 2005. and that the “department is acting against the law.
Lifers are being manipulated for the benefit of the guard’s union.” His failure to understand that
his own actions are solely responsible for his incarceration, indicates that he may not refrain
from further violent conduct if released.

Given Mr. Dustin’s current mental health diagnoses, 1 also have serious reservations about his
limited involvement in self-help and therapy over the years. Mr. Dustin has not participated in
any domestic violence prevention or abuse prevention against women. His only relevant
participation appears to be his involvement in one relationship group. Self-help and therapy
programs will provide Mr. Dustin: with knowledge and skills necessary to succeed upon release
from prison and will help him avoid violence in the future.

CONCLUSION:

I have considered the record and the criteria for assessing Mr. Dustin’s suitability for parole. |
find that the negative factors 1 have discussed demonstrate why Mr. Dustin poses a current
danger to society if released from prison. Therefore, | reverse the decision to parole Mr. Dustin.
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EDMUND G. BROWN JR. - A}
Governor, State of California

Decision Date: March 4. 2011




INDETERMINATE SENTENCE PAROLE RELEASE REVIEW
(Penal Code Section 3041.2)

GREGORY JONES, H-52005
First-degree murder

AFFIRM:

MODIFY:

REVERSE: X

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In the early morning hours of April 27, 1991, Gregory Jones and his uncles, Marty Harris and
Patrice Andre Ilucker, decided to rob someone. On the street they came across Paula Harris and
her boyiriend, Andre Williams. Ms. Harris was the sister of Mr. Harris and Mr. Flucker. Mr.
Jones and his uncles discussed their intent to rob someone and Mr. Harris asked “who has the
money, who has the dope?” Mr. Williams walked over to a group of people and brought back
Larry Porter, a homeless man. Mr. Harris pointed a shotgun at Mr. Porter and demanded drugs
or money. Mr. Jones then took the shotgun from Mr. Harris and, at the direction of Mr. Harris,
shot and kitled Mr. Porter. Mr. Harris went through Mr. Porter’s clothes and took eight doliars.
Police arrested Mr. Jones three days later. He pled guilty fo {irst-degree murder with a firearm
enhancement and was sentenced to 28 years to life in prison.

GOVERNING LAW:

The question ] must answer is whether Mr. Jones is currently a danger to the public. In
answering this question, I must examine the same record that was before the Board of Parole
Hearings and adhere 1o the same legal standards. The circumstances of the crime can provide
evidence of current dangerousness when the record also establishes that something in the
inmate’s pre- or post-incarceration history, or the inmate’s current demeanor and mental state,
indicate that the circumstances of the crime remain probative of current dangerousness. (/n re
Lawrence (2008) 44 Cal. 4% 1181, 1214))

DECISION:

On October 14, 2010, the Board of Parole Hearings found Mr. Jones suitable for parole based on
his expression of remorse, acceptance of responsibility, insight into the crime, participation in
self-help programs and vocational training, positive institutional work record, realistic parole
plans, lack of assaultive behavior as a juvenile, and reduced recidivism risk due to age.

I acknowledge Mr. Jones has made laudable gains while incarcerated. He earned a General
Equivalency Diploma, completed vocational training, and held a number of institutional jobs.
He has attended Alcoholics Anonymous meetings on a fairly regular basis since 2005. He also
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participated in other self-help and therapy programs, including various anger management
classes. Creative Conflict Resolution, various Project PRIDE workshops, Alternative 1o Violence
Project, Breaking Barriers, the Pathways to Sobriety program, and group therapy. | commend
him for taking thesc positive steps. But they are outweighed by negative factors that demonstrate
he remains unsuitable for parole.

Mr. Jones callously executed a man in cold blocd. He went out inte the streets looking for
somecne to rob. Upon coming across an unsuspecting man who posed no threat, Mr. Jones shot
him to death when he failed to turn over any drugs or money. The motive for the murder was
very trivial.

The aggravated nature of the crime when considered with other evidence indicates that Mr. Jones
remains dangercus. The psychologist whe evaluated him most recently found that his risk of
violent recidivism was in the moderate range. The psychelogist also found that overall M.
Jones posed a “low to moderate” risk of recidivism if released to a free community. The
psychologist listed Mr. Jones™ young age at the time of the offense, the violent nature of the
offense, early behavioral issues, and history of drug and alcohol abuse as faciors contributing to
the elevated risk. Other factors that increased his risk assessment score were his potential
employment problems, glibness and superficial charm, lying, parasitic lifestyle, impulsivity, and
need for stimulation.

I'am also concerned by Mr. Jones’ recent misbehavior in prison. In 2007, he received a rules
violation report for Jewd conduct resulting from inappropriate physical contact with his visiting
ex-wife. He was also reprimanded in 2007 for failing to report 1o his job assignment. Mr. Jones’
recent inability 1o abide by prison rules indicates that he is not yet able to abide by the rules of
society. Taken together, his history of violence, his risk of violent recidivism, and his recent
prison misconduct provide evidence that he still presents a danger to society,

CONCLUSION:

I have considered the record and the criteria for assessing Mr. Jones’ suitability for parole. | find
that the negative factors I have discussed demonstrate why Mr. Jones poses a current danger to
society if released from prison. Therefore, I reverse the decision to parole Mr. Jones,

EDMUND G. BROWN JR. {
Governor, State of California %‘\

Decision Date: March 11, 2011




INDETERMINATE SENTENCE PAROLE RELEASE REVIEW
(Penal Code Section 3041.2)

WILLIAM TABB, C-58436
Second-degree murder

AFFIRM:

MODIFY:

REVERSE: X

STATEMENT OF FACTS:

According to the probation report, on July 19, 1980, William Tabb and his wife, Laura, got into
an argument during which both threatened divorce. At some point, he struck her in the head with
an object, causing a fatal fracture. A medical examiner later concluded that the injury was
consistent with being struck by a ball peen hammer, which police officers found at Mr. Tabb’s
home. Mr. Tabb reported her missing three days after he killed her. He then filed for divorce
and carried on with his life.

Over a year later, on November 3, 1981, Laura’s remains were found wrapped in plastic in an
isolated, brushy area. Investigating officers found by the remains biue “rug remnants” that tested
positive for blood. Three matching rug remnants were found around the bed in the master
bedroom at the Tabb residence. Other items found near her remains included part of a pajama
set and a mattress cover. The remaining part of the pajama set was found in the Tabb home.
Officers discovered that one of the beds in the home had a relatively new mattress cover. There
was also evidence of bloodstains in the master bedroom.

Mr. Tabb was arrested on November 7, 1981. A jury convicted him of second-degree murder
and found that he used a dangerous or deadly weapon during the commission of the crime. The
court sentenced him to 15 years to life in prison for second-degree murder plus an additional year
for using the weapon.

GOVERNING LAW:

The question 1s whether Mr. Tabb is currently a danger to the public. In answering this question,
I must examine the same record that was before the Board of Parole Hearings and adhere to the
same legal standards. The circumstances of the crime can provide evidence of current
dangerousness when the record also establishes that something in the inmate’s pre- or post-
incarceration history, or the inmate’s current demeanor and mental state, indicate that the
circumstances of the crime remain probative of current dangerousness. (In re Lawrence (2008)
44 Cal. 4" 1181, 1214.) '
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DIECTSION:

The Board of Parole Hearings found Mr. Tabb suitable for parole based upon his expressions of
remorse, positive prison behavior, an enhanced ability to function within the law upon release, a
stable social history, a reduced risk of recidivism, lack of a criminal record, and his parole plans.

Mr. Tabb has made some gains while incarcerated. He has participated in some self-help and
therapy programs, including a parenting program, Project PRIDE facilitator training, and an
eight-week emotional maturity program. I commend Mr. Tabb for taking these positive steps.
But they are outweighed by negative factors that demonstrate he remains unsuitable for parole.

Mr. Tabb’s crime was especially brutal and callous. As the probation report notes, Laura
suffered a large fracture to her skull and her head was wrapped with a piece of terry cloth. The
probation officer noted that the presence of a hole in the terry cloth suggested that the fatal blow
was delivered after Laura was unconscious, or when she was rendered incapable of defending
herself. After inflicting the fatal blow, Mr. Tabb wrapped her body in plastic and abandoned it in
an isolated area, thus demonstrating an exceptionally callous disregard for her life and suffering.

Despite his years of incarceration, Mr. Tabb has never accepted any responsibility for his crime.
Instead, he blames others. According to a November 1981 police report, he told a neighbor that
he believed Laura committed suicide. As reflected in his 1988 psychological evaluation, he then
began accusing his son and one of his son’s friends of the murder stating that they were
“motivated by obtaining the inheritance.” He blamed his conviction on his lawyer who he says
provided him with an inadequate defense. In 1993, Mr, Tabb changed his story again. He told
his psychological evaluator that he no longer believed that his son was responsible, but that an
unknown assailant killed his wife. In 2000, he partjally reverted to blaming his son for Laura’s
death. He told his psychological evaluator that he did not believe that his son “directly” killed
his wife. When the evaluator asked him if his son might have arranged for Laura’s murder, he
noted that his son received $125,000 in insurance proceeds and $78,000 from the sale of their
home. More recently, he has again theorized that the murder was committed by an unknown
assailant and that maybe somebody was mad at her. And as noted in his most recent evaluation,
he focuses “primarily on describing his poor legal representation and the fact that he was ‘sold
out by the system” in general.”

The psychologist who assessed him in 2010 explained that his lack of insight into the reasons he
committed the crime indicates that he is no better equipped today to deal with interpersonal
conflicts than he was when he killed his wife. As the psychologist explained:

Given his staunch claim of innocence over the last 30 vears, it is not expected that
he will be suddenly become more candid in the future. He continues to use the
defenses of denial and repression to psychologically deal with the emotional
repercussions of the intolerable realities of the life crime. Although Mr. Tabb
seems to have the cognitive fortitude necessary to gain insights into the
antecedents of his behavior, it seems as if he is making the conscious choice not
to. Without a willingness to deive deeper into the causative factors of such
violent behavior, it cannot be expected that he has developed the skilis necessary
to deal with interpersonal conflicts in a more constructive manner.
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Even the 2010 Board concluded, “Is there credibility concerns {sic], yes. Is there a failure to take
responsibility for the crime, yes.” Mr. Tabb is not required to admit guilt to be found suitable for
parole. But his past and present attitude toward the crime are factors that affect parole
suitability. (Cal.Code Regs., tit. 15 § 2402(b).) In refusing to accept responsibility, Mr. Tabb
shows no understanding of what he did wrong and what he needs to do differently in the future.
Without this understanding, I am concerned that he continues to pose a danger to the public.

The record has also consistently indicated that Mr. Tabb lacks genuine remorse for his wife’s
death. His 2010 psychological evaluator found his expression of sympathy over his wife’s death
to be shallow, explaining that “although he stated he was upset after his wife’s disappearance, he
‘carried on’ with his life before the discovery of her body.” The psychologist concluded that
“Mr. Tabb placed more importance on the loss of his home over the loss of his wife after his
conviction.” The evaluator also opined, as previous evaluators had, that:

there appears to be a narcissistic component to Mr. Tabb’s personality. Although
not particularly flagrant, there are more subtle signs of self-centeredness as
evidenced by his relishing in past accomplishments, taking pride in his highly
moral perception of himself, failure to accept personal responsibility for his
actions, failure to display genuine empathy for the victim, as well as the lack of
insight and appreciation for how his actions have impacted others.

Mr. Tabb’s failure to exhibit genuine remorse or empathy for his wife’s death shows a callous
disregard for human suffering.

CONCLUSION;:

In sum, Mr. Tabb is someone who committed a brutal, callous niurder for which he has never
accepted any responsibility. Neither has he ever displayed any insight into his violent actions,
nor any genuine remorse for his victim’s fate. 'When taken together, this evidence indicates that
he poses a current threat of further violence if released.

I have considered the record and the criteria for assessing Mr. Tabb’s suitability for parole.
find that the negative factors I have discussed demonstrate why Mr. Tabb poses a current danger
to society if released from prison. Therefore, I reverse the decision to parole Mr. Tabb.

Decision Date: March 11, 2011 (s : % Wi@
EDMUND G. BROWN'JR.
Governor, State of California




INDETERMINATE SENTENCE PAROLE RELEASE REVIEW
(Penal Code Section 3041.2)

RICKY CARPENTER, B-95921
First-degree murder

AFFIRM:

MODIFY:

REVERSE: X

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January 16, 1978, Ricky Carpenter beat, strangled, and stabbed his 57-vear-old neighbor
Evelyn Bentley. An autopsy revealed Ms. Bentley had been stabbed eight times. She died from
a stab wound o the neck. There were also five stab wounds on her left breast. Mr. Carpenter
has said that he was angry at Ms. Bentley because he blamed her for his mother’s changed
attitude toward him. He also felt she had played a role in his mother and stepfather splitting up.

On the day of the murder, he knocked on her door and asked her if he could use her phone
because his was out of order. She let him in, and as she brought him a phone, he punched her 